
 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

 

Tuesday, July 2, 2024, 5:30pm 

Council Chambers 

Municipal Administration Building 

285 Beech Hill Road 

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4 

 

1. Call to Order – Chair Owen McCarron 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Approval of June 11, 2024 Municipal Council Minutes 

4. Business Arising from the Minutes 

5. Presentation of Fire Long-Service Bars – Tracadie Volunteer Fire Department 

6. Public Hearings 

a. Recommendation for Demolition – 2 Harbour Lane, Lower South River, Nova 

Scotia PID (10027639) AAN (07114710) 

b. An application to rezone PIDs 10138329, 10136901, 10138337 and 10138345 

from the Rural (R-1) Zone to Residential Multi-Unit (R-2) Zone under the Eastern 

Antigonish Plan Area. 

c. An application to rezone PID 01208933, Sylvan Valley from the Residential (R-1) 

Zone to Multi-Unit Residential (R-2) Zone under the West River Antigonish Harbour 

Plan Area. 

d. An application to amend the Multiple Unit Residential (R-1) Zone townhouse lot 

requirements under the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to have 

smaller lot size requirements subject to a maximum hard surface coverage of 50% 

with accompanying definition of “hard surface”. 

e. An application to amend the General Commercial (C-2) Zone under the West River 

Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to allow non-residential buildings to be 

converted to entirely residential buildings subject to special requirements with 

accompanying definition of “amenity space”. 

f. An application to amend the Eastern Antigonish Land Use By-law to allow 

“Brewpubs, taproom breweries and micro-distilleries” and “licensed 

establishments” to Restaurants as permitted uses within the Rural (R-1) Zone. 

7. Delegations 

a. There are no scheduled delegations. 



 

 

8. Correspondence 

a. Hon. John Lohr, DMAH – 12-month Notice Letter 

9. Adjournment for Committee of the Whole 

10. Committee Reports 

a. June 12, 2024 Asset Management Committee e-Poll Report 

b. June 12, 2024 Committee of the Whole e-Poll Report 

c. June 25, 2024 Asset Management Committee Report 

d. June 25, 2024 Committee of the Whole Report 

e. July 2, 2024 Committee of the Whole Report 

11. Motions 

12. Miscellaneous Business 

13. In-Camera Items 

a. Contract Negotiations 

14. Adjournment 



 

Municipal Council Meeting- Minutes 

 

Tuesday June 11, 2024 

7:30pm 

Council Chambers  

Municipal Administration Building 

285 Beech Hill Road 

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4 

 

Councillors Present: 

Warden Owen McCarron 

Deputy Warden Bill MacFarlane  

Councillor Mary MacLellan 

Councillor Donnie MacDonald 

 

Councillor Shawn Brophy  

Councillor Remi Deveau 

Councillor John Dunbar  

Councillor Gary Mattie  

Councillor Harris McNamara 

   

Regrets: 

Councillor Hugh Stewart  

   

Staff Present: 

Glenn Horne, CAO Beth Schumacher, Deputy Clerk 

Tammy Feltmate, Director of Sustainable 

Communities 

Andrew Jones, EDPC 

  

Also Present:  

Gallery Nathan MacLeod, Upland Planning 

Matt Draper, XFM Drake Lowthers, The Reporter 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Call to Order- Chairman, Warden Owen McCarron 

Warden McCarron called the meeting to order at 7:43pm.  

Approval of Agenda 

Warden McCarron called for any additions or deletions to the agenda.   

Min # 2024-069 

Moved and Seconded  

That the agenda be approved as presented. 

Motion Carried 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 3 of 50



 

May 29, 2024, 2024 Municipal Council Minutes 2 

Approval of May 29, 2024 Municipal Council Minutes 

Warden McCarron called for any errors or omissions in the minutes included in the 

agenda package. 

Min # 2024-070 

Moved and Seconded  

That the Municipal Council Minutes of May 29, 2024 be approved. 

Motion Carried 

Business Arising from the Minutes 

There was no business arising from the minutes. 

Statutory Public Hearings 

Plan Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-law 

Mr. Horne reviewed the public hearing protocols.  Mr. MacLeod provided an overview 

of the plan development process, reviewed the themes of the feedback from public 

consultation sessions, and gave a high-level summary of the proposed plan.  He noted 

that the should the plan receive approval by Council, it will go to the Province for review.   

The floor was opened to Council for any questions or comments.  A question of 

clarification was asked regarding fishing zones, to which Mr. MacLeod provided an 

explanation.  A question was asked about housing units on lots could be permitted, 

and Mr. MacLeod noted that if there was adequate servicing, the base number of units 

permitted would be four.  A question of clarification regarding coastal protection was 

asked, and Mr. MacLeod noted that the documents do reference the Coastal Protection 

Act and have a horizontal setback, but additional guidance from the province about the 

Coastal Protection Act will be needed.   

Warden McCarron called for anyone looking to speak in favour or against the motion.  

No one was present to speak to the item.   

Min # 2024-071 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council approve the Plan Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy 
and Land Use by-law as proposed.  

Motion Carried 

Warden McCarron thanked Mr. MacLeod and the Upland Team for all of their work 

on the plan.   

Delegations 

There were no scheduled delegations.         

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 4 of 50



 

May 29, 2024, 2024 Municipal Council Minutes 3 

Correspondence 

Mr. Horne reviewed the correspondence that was included in the agenda package.  

Deputy Warden MacFarlane asked for Council’s consensus to send a letter to the 

Department of Fisheries regarding the riverbank of concern as shared with the 

Department of Natural Resources.  Mr. Horne also reviewed correspondence received 

from the Provincial Department of Public Works regarding concerns with Cape Jack 

Road.   

Committee Reports 

June 3, 2024 Planning Advisory Committee Report 

Min # 2024-072 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council give first reading and set a public hearing date to rezone 
PIDs 10138329, 10136901, 10138337, and 10138345 from the Rural (R-1) Zone 
to Residential Multi-Unit (R-2) Zone under the Eastern Antigonish Plan Area.  

Motion Carried 

Min # 2024-073 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council give first reading and set a public hearing date to rezone 
PID 01208933, Sylvan Valley, from the Residential (R-1) Zone to Multi-Unit 
Residential (R-2) Zone under the West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area.  

Motion Carried 

Min # 2024-074 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council give first reading and set a public hearing date for 
amending the Multiple Unit Residential (R-1) Zone townhouse lot requirements 
under the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to have smaller lot size 
requirements subject to a maximum hard surface coverage of 50% with 
accompanying definition of “hard surface”.  

Motion Carried 

Min # 2024-075 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council give first reading and set a public hearing date for 
amending the General Commercial (C-2) Zone under the West River Antigonish 
Harbour Land Use By-law to allow non-residential buildings to be converted to 
entirely residential buildings subject to special requirements with accompanying 
definition of “amenity space”.  

Motion Carried 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 5 of 50



 

May 29, 2024, 2024 Municipal Council Minutes 4 

Min # 2024-076 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council give first reading and set a public hearing date for the 
proposed amendment to the Eastern Antigonish Land Use by-law to allow 
“Brewpubs, taproom breweries, and micro-distilleries” and “licensed 
establishments” to Restaurants are permitted uses within the Rural (R-1) Zone.  

Motion Carried 

June 11, 2024 Committee of the Whole Report 

Min # 2024-077 

Moved and Seconded  

that Municipal Council supports the Engage Nova Scotia Quality of Life Survey 
Funding Request, for the proposed amount of 50 cents per resident. 

Motion Carried 

Min # 2024-078 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council Municipal Council approve the creation of a fourth 
collection vehicle operator position in the Public Works Department. 

Motion Carried 

Min # 2024-079 

Moved and Seconded  

That Municipal Council provide a leave of absence to Councillor Stewart for the 

June 11, 2024 Council Meeting for medical reasons. 

Motion Carried 

Outside Boards and Committees 

• Councillor Mattie shared highlights from the Tracadie Volunteer Fire Department 

awards dinner held on June 8th. 

• Councillor Macdonald provided a summary of the Eastern Regional Solid Waste 

Management committee, who met on May 30th.  Auditing taking place at the 

facility in Kemptown.  A lightbulb recycling program is being explored.   

• Deputy Warden MacFarlane shared highlights from the FCM conference 

attended in Calgary earlier in the month.  Thanks were given to the conference 

hosts, and a suggestion was made to send a letter to Calgary Mayor. 

• Councillor Deveau shared information from a session that he attended at the 

FCM Conference about AI and how it is being used in municipal operations.   

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 6 of 50



 

May 29, 2024, 2024 Municipal Council Minutes 5 

• Councillor Brophy also attended the FCM conference and was impressed. 

• Warden McCarron shared that he also attended the FCM conference, and 

described the challenge faced by the City of Calgary when the large watermain 

broke.  He noted that the new president of FCM comes from Colchester County, 

and asked that a letter of congratulations be sent to him. 

Miscellaneous Business 

There was no miscellaneous business. 

Motions 

There were no motions. 

Additions to the Agenda 

There were no further additions to the agenda.  

Adjournment 

Min # 2024-080 

Moved 

That the Council meeting adjourns at 8:24 pm. 

Motion Carried 

 

 

  

Warden Owen McCarron  Glenn Horne, CAO 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 7 of 50



Eastern District Planning Commission 

June 14, 2024 

285 Beech HHI Road, Beech Hill, Nova Scotia B2G 0B4 

Tel: 902-631-1662 

Fax: 902-863-5751

Derijt Holdings Limited 

4943 DUNMORE ROAD 

ST. ANDREWS NS CA 

B2G 0B4 

Sean Donovan 

Manager of Inspection Services 

Senior Building Official QBO II 

sdonovan@edpc.ca 

Reference: Property of Derijt Holdings Limited, 2 Harbour Lane, Lower South River, Nova Scotia PID 

(10027639) AAN (07114710) 

Dear Property Owner, 

Upon receiving a complaint about the state of the above referenced property, an inspection was conducted. 

Based on the findings of that inspection, it is the determination of the administrator that the dwelling on the 

property should be demolished. A recommendation for demolition will be made to Council for the demolition 

of this building and cleanup of the property. 

AND TAKE NOTICE that Council will consider the recommendation at the following meeting which you may 

attend, in which you will be given an opportunity to appear and be heard before an Order is issued. 

MEETING DATE AND TIME: Tuesday July 2nd at 5:30 PM 

MEETING PLACE: Council Chambers, Municipal Office 

285 Beech Hill Road 

Beech Hill, Nova Scotia 

B2G 0B4 

Sincerely, 

Sean Donovan 

www.edpc.ca 

Sean Donovan 
Manager of Inspection Services 
QBOII 
EDPC 
285 Beech Hill Road 
Beech Hill, Nova Scotia B2G 0B4 
Phone: 902.631.1662 Fax:902.863.5751 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 8 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 1 of 10 

To: Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee 

Antigonish County Council 

From: Planning Staff (EDPC) 

Date: June 3, 2024 

Reference: Application by Kelly Field and Sylvain Gauthier to amend the Eastern Antigonish 

Land Use By-law by rezoning the property on Myette Road with PIDs 10138329, 

10136901, 10138337 and 10138345 from R-1 to R-2. 

Staff Recommendation: 

Planning Staff’s recommendation is to approve 

the proposed rezoning from R-1 to R-2. This 

would allow more housing units to be 

constructed on the four properties. 

Background Information: 

Staff received a request to rezone the four 

properties on Myette Road with PIDs: 

10138329, 10136901, 10138337 and 10138345. 

Three of the properties are currently vacant and 

one has agricultural buildings on it. The 

properties are all zoned Rural (R-1). The owners 

would like to get the properties rezoned to 

Multi-unit Residential (R-2) in order to construct 

nine semi-detached dwellings on the three properties for a total of eighteen new units. 

Analysis: 

The property is currently designated Rural and zoned Rural (R-1). The current policy in the Eastern 

Antigonish Secondary Planning Strategy describes that a rezoning to R-2 may occur in the Rural 

Designation. Policy 2(c) of the Eastern Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy allows for a 

rezoning to the Residential Multi-Unit (R-2) Zone. The policy reads as follows: 

The Residential Multi-Unit (R-2) Zone shall permit residential buildings of more than two 

(2) units including grouped dwellings and all non-agricultural, non-forestry and non-

fishing uses permitted in the RS-1 Zone subject to the requirements of the RS-1 Zone.

Existing multi-unit buildings shall be zoned R-2. New multi-unit buildings shall be

considered by a rezoning in any part of the Planning Area designated “Rural”, “Rural

Settlement” and “Commercial”.

Description 

Designation: Rural 

Current Zoning: Rural (R-1) 

Request: Rezone to R-2, Residential 

Multi-Unit 

Identification #: PID(s) 10138329, 

10136901, 10138337 and 

10138345 

Total Lot Area: 7.3 ha (18 acres) 

Site Visit:  November 30, 2023 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 9 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 2 of 10 

 

  

 
Figure 1: Rezoning map of property on Myette Road. 

 

 

Regarding section (b) of Policy 39, the list of rezoning criteria is laid out in full in Appendix “B” of 

this report. Policy 39 considers such factors as traffic, sewer and water services, contamination of 

watercourses and parking requirements. 

The Eastern Plan also has a policy for rezoning to the Multi-unit Residential (R-2) Zone within the 

Rural Designation which is similar to Policy 2(c) and also directly applies to this situation. Policy 6 

is as follows: 

It is the intention of Council to permit new residential multi-unit buildings in areas 

designated "Rural", "Rural Settlement" or "Commercial" as shown on the Generalized 

Future Land Use Map by a rezoning to the R-2 Zone subject to the following criteria to 

direct these uses to suitable locations and those criteria listed in Policy 39: 

(a)  the proposed development is compatible with adjacent residential uses with respect 

to scale, mass and use; 

(b)  the location of the proposed development does not create any major traffic problems; 

(c)  the lot on which the proposed development is sited is adequately served by a 

centralized sewer system and/or central water system or if on-site services are to be 

used, these services are adequate for R-2 Zone uses. 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 10 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 3 of 10 

Financial: 

According to Policy 39 in the Eastern Antigonish Secondary Planning Strategy, the proposed 

development cannot be premature or inappropriate by reason of the financial capacity of the 

Municipality to absorb the costs relating to the proposal. Staff circulated letters and received 

responses from several Municipal departments and one provincial department. According to the 

Finance Department there is no issue with the ability to absorb any of the costs associated with 

the proposed development. The developer will be absorbing all the costs of the proposed 

development. 

Recreation Facilities and Schools: 

Staff also received a letter from the 

Recreation Director outlining that 

there are sufficient recreation facilities 

in the Tracadie area. The comments 

from the Strait Area School Board 

Director, said that the Eastern 

Antigonish Education Centre has the 

capacity to accommodate a number of 

new students should the need arise 

from more residential development in 

the area. 

Scale and Mass: 

The majority of buildings in the vicinity are either single detached dwellings or agricultural 

buildings, as this was predominantly a farming area historically. The proposal is to construct three 

semi-detached dwellings on each of three separate lots, which totals eighteen (18) new units. 

Semi-detached dwellings are not very different in building mass from a single-detached dwelling 

unit, so this is not an unreasonable proposal. What Council needs to consider is whether having 

that many new units is a reasonable scale of new units in comparison to what is in the surrounding 

area. From a staff point of view this would be considered a low-density development. 

Transportation network: 

Staff received correspondence indicating that the Nova Scotia Department of Public Works is 

satisfied with the road leading to the properties and they currently have no concerns with the 

surrounding road networks nor public street access. The Department also added that a completed 

‘Work Within a Highway Right-of-Way Permit’ will be required prior to any construction activities; 

at which time they may ask to review detailed engineering drawings for access as well as on-site 

drainage. 

 

Figure 2: Existing barn from Myette Road. 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 11 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 4 of 10 

Soil erosion and sedimentation: 

During construction the developer will need to comply with the Provincial regulations for erosion 

of soils and water drainage systems on the properties. Staff received a letter from Nova Scotia 

Environment and Climate Change which stated that NSECC has no objections to the proposed 

rezoning if the on-site systems are designed and installed in accordance with the On-site Sewage 

Disposal Systems Regulations. NSECC made it clear in the correspondence that they are aware 

that the intent is to construct up to three duplexes per PID. The response stated that on-site septic 

systems must be designed and 

installed in accordance with the On-

site Sewage Disposal Standard (2022) 

and On-site Sewage Disposal Systems 

Regulations (2018). 

Statements of Provincial Interest: 

The purpose of the Statements of 

Provincial Interest (SPI) is to protect 

the common public interest and 

encourage sustainable development 

in municipalities. The SPI are policy 

statements adopted by the provincial 

government under the powers of the Municipal Government Act (MGA s.193). They are set out 

in Schedule “B” of the MGA and legislation requires that municipal planning documents are 

“reasonably consistent” with the SPI. As such, the following comments are offered with respect 

to consistency of the proposal with the SPI:  

1.  Drinking Water: The proposed development does not impact the provision of drinking water. 

The property is not located within a well field or an area covered by a Source Water 

Protection Plan.  

2.  Flood Risk Areas: Not in an identified flood risk area.  

3.  Agricultural Land: This proposed housing will be impacting agricultural lands. The land was 

originally a farm, but no active farm has operated on the land in recent years. 

4.  Infrastructure: Will not be using municipal water or sewer. 

5.  Housing: The proposed development will provide eighteen (18) new housing units, which will 

increase the availability of new housing stock in the area. 

The proposed development is reasonably consistent with the Statements of Provincial Interest. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Existing vacant lots on Myette Road. 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 12 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 5 of 10 

 

Figure 4: Site Plan of proposed location of nine dwellings. 

 

 

 

Conclusion:  

The rezoning application for the four properties on Myette Road with PIDs 10138329, 10136901, 

10138337 and 10138345 meets the intent of the relevant policies of the Eastern Antigonish 

Municipal Planning Strategy. Staff recommend approving the rezoning from Rural to Multi-unit 

Residential Zone, to allow nine semi-detached dwellings to be constructed on four properties. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 13 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 6 of 10 

Proposed Motions:  

If supported by the Planning Advisory Committee, the motion could be as follows:  

Planning Advisory Committee recommends that Municipal Council approve the 

amendment to the Eastern Antigonish Land Use By-law to rezone the properties with PIDs 

10138329, 10136901, 10138337 and 10138345 on Myette Road in Tracadie from Rural (R-

1) to Residential Multi Unit (R-2) zone as per the Rezoning Map. 

 

The motion for Council could be the following:  

Council approves the amendment to the Eastern Antigonish Land Use By-law to rezone the 

properties with PIDs 10138329, 10136901, 10138337 and 10138345 on Myette Road in 

Tracadie from Rural (R-1) to Residential Multi Unit (R-2) zone as per the Rezoning Map. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 14 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 7 of 10 

Appendix ‘A’: Summary of Applicable Policies 

Policy 6  

It is the intention of Council to permit new residential multi-unit buildings in areas designated “Rural”, “Rural 
Settlement” or “Commercial” as shown on the Generalized Future Land Use Map by a rezoning to the R-2 Zone 
subject to the following criteria to direct these uses to suitable locations and those criteria listed in Policy 39: 

a. the proposed development is compatible with adjacent residential uses with respect 
to scale, mass and use; 

Complies 

b. the location of the proposed development does not create any major traffic 
problems; 

Complies 

c. the lot on which the proposed development is sited is adequately served by a 
centralized sewer system and/or central water system or if on-site services are to 
be used, these services are adequate for R-2 Zone uses. 

Complies 

 
Policy 39 In considering amendments to the Land Use By-law, in addition to all other 

criteria as set out in various policies of this planning strategy, Council shall have regard for 

the following matters: 

a.  Whether the proposal conforms with the intent of this Strategy and with the 

requirements of all other Municipal by- laws and regulations; 

Complies 

b.  Whether the proposal is premature or inappropriate by reason of: 

 

(i) the financial capability of the Municipality to absorb any costs relating to the 

proposal; 

Complies 

(ii) the adequacy of sewer and/or water services to support the proposal; On-site water 

and sewer 

(iii) the adequacy and proximity of school, recreation and other community facilities; Complies  

(iv) the adequacy of road networks, in, adjacent to, or leading to the development 

and the adequacy of proposed accesses and parking facilities; 

Complies 

(v) the potential for the contamination of abutting watercourses or the creation of 

erosion or sedimentation as a result of the development as determined by a qualified 

person from the appropriate government department; 

Complies 

(vi) the potential for damage to or destruction of historical buildings 
and sites. 

N.A. 

c.  Whether the proposal conforms to the requirements contained in the Land Use By-

law relating to the following: 

Complies 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 15 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 8 of 10 

i.) the type of use; 

ii.) setbacks, height, bulk, and lot coverage of a proposed building or 

 expansion to an existing structure; 

Complies 

iii.) traffic generation, access to and egress from the site, and parking; Complies 

iv.) open storage; N.A. 

v.) signs; N.A. 

vi.) provisions for buffering, landscaping, screening and access control 

to reduce potential incompatibility with adjacent land uses and 

traffic; 

Complies 

vii.) the location of the development so as not to obstruct any natural 

 drainage channels or watercourses; 

Complies 

viii.) sufficient building separations to permit access to firefighting equipment and to 

prevent the spread of fire. 

Complies.  

d.  Suitability and costs of the proposed development in terms of steepness 

of grades, soil and geological conditions, marshes, swamps, or bogs and 

proximity of highway ramps, railway rights-of-way and other nuisance factors. 

Complies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 16 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 9 of 10 

Appendix ‘B’: Rezoning Map 

The Eastern Antigonish Land Use By-law shall be amended by changing the Zoning Map for the 

properties shown in the map below.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 17 of 50



Staff Report 

Page 10 of 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
This is to certify that the By-law, of which this is a 
true copy, was passed at a duly called meeting of the 
Council for the Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish on _________________________, 2024. 
Given under the hand of the Chief Administrative 
Officer and under the corporate seal of the said 
Municipality this _____ day of ___________, 2024. 
 
__________________________________________ 
Glenn Horne 
CAO 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 18 of 50



To: 

From: 

Date: 

Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee 

Antigonish County Council 

Planning Staff (EDPC)  

June 3, 2024 

Reference: Application to rezone the property on Vincent’s Way, PID 01208933, Sylvan Valley, 
Antigonish County  

AT-RZ2023-006 

Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommend that the Antigonish County 
Planning Advisory Committee forward the 
following recommendations: 

1. That the Municipality rezone the
property with PID 01208933 located on
Vincent’s Way.

2. That Municipal Council give First 
Reading and schedule a Public Hearing.

Background Information:  
In November 2023, the Eastern District 
Planning Commission received an application 
from STRUM Consultants on behalf of the 
owners, 4471588 Nova Scotia Limited, asking to 
rezone the property located on Vincent’s Way with PID 01208933. The property is currently zoned 
Residential (R-1) and they would like it rezoned to Multi-unit Residential (R-2) zone because the 
developer intends to subdivide the lot into many smaller lots to construct a number of 
townhouses, semi-detached and single detached dwellings.  

Analysis: 
The property is currently owned by 4471588 NS Limited and is zoned Residential (R-1) in the West 
River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area.  The applicant has asked to rezone the property to Multi-unit 
Residential (R-2) in order that they have the option of building both semi-detached and multi-
unit dwellings on the lot, once the lot is subdivided into smaller lots. 

Description 

Designation: Residential 

Current Zoning: Residential (R-1)  

Request: Rezone to R-2 

Identification #: PID: 01208933 

Total Lot Area: 60,368 m² (14.92 acres) 

Site Visits:   February 22, 2024 

March 21, 2024 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 19 of 50



 
Site Visit: 
The subject property is very large and will 
eventually be subdivided into smaller lots for 
residential units.  Planning Staff visited the site 
on March 21, 2024, to determine if there are 
any outstanding issues with such 
characteristics as: slope, drainage, and the 
proximity to the neighbouring houses. 
 
There are several existing single detached 
residential dwellings which abut the property.  
To address this the site plan shows a vacant lot 
directly behind civic #17 Vincent’s Way which 
helps with the buffering and the required 
amenity space.  
 
Financial Costs: 
Staff solicited input on the proposal from the Municipal Department of Finance and Public Works 
because there is policy that sets out criteria for Council to consider, one of which refers to 
whether the proposal is premature or inappropriate by reason of the financial capability of the 
Municipality to absorb any costs related to the development.  
The response from the Municipality was that it can absorb any costs related to this development. 
The complete Summary of Evaluation Criteria is listed in ‘Appendix A’ of this report. 

Municipal Sewer, Water and Road Network: 
The comments from the municipal 
Department of Public Works stated that the 
proposed development is capable of being 
serviced by municipal water and sewer and 
the proposed development will not strain 
the capacities of these services. Municipal 
Public Works also commented that the road 
network is adequate and that the proposed 
development will not create any major 
traffic problems. 
 
Statements of Provincial Interest: 
The purpose of the Statements of Provincial Interest (SPI) is to protect the common public interest 

 

Figure 1: Photo showing entrance and wooded area behind 
PID 10091494 (#15 Vincent’s Way). 

 

 

 

 
Figure 2: Zoning Map. 

 
 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 20 of 50



and encourage sustainable development in municipalities. The SPI are policy statements adopted 
by the provincial government under the powers of the Municipal Government Act (MGA s.193). 
Legislation requires that municipal planning documents are “reasonably consistent” with the SPI. 
Upon review of the SPI, Staff conclude that the proposed development is reasonably consistent 
with all the relevant statements.  The location is not in an identified floodplain and will be using 
existing municipal infrastructure and extending it. Furthermore, it will positively impact the 
housing supply in the area, but not necessarily the affordable housing supply. Therefore, Staff find 
that the proposed development is reasonably consistent with the Statements of Provincial 
Interest. 

 

Figure 3: Location Map 

Conclusion:  
Analysis of the site and proposal, completed through a review of relevant policies the Municipal 
Planning Strategy indicate that this proposed development is reasonably consistent with the 
relevant policies of the West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning Strategy. Staff 
recommend rezoning the subject property to R-2 as requested. 
 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 21 of 50



Proposed Motions for the Planning Advisory Committee:  
Based upon the staff recommendation, the proposed motions for PAC are: 

1. That the Planning Advisory Committee recommend that Municipal Council rezone the 
property with PID 01208933 from R-1 to R-2; and  
That Municipal Council give First Reading and schedule a Public Hearing.  

Proposed Motions for Council:  
Based upon a positive recommendation from the PAC, the proposed motions for Council are: 
FIRST READING AND SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING DATE: 

1. That Municipal Council give First Reading and schedule a Public Hearing regarding the 
rezoning of PID 01208933. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix A:  Summary of Policies  

Appendix B: Site Plan 

Appendix C:  Proposed Townhouse Options 

Appendix D:  Amending Page  

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 22 of 50



Appendix A: Summary of Evaluation Criteria 

Policy L-2.9 It shall be the policy of Council to consider the rezoning of properties to the Residential Multi-
Unit (R-2) Zone within the serviced portion of the Residential Designation. In evaluating such 
proposals, Council shall have regard to the following: 

a)  R-2 zone requirements for multiple unit dwellings; Complies (See Staff Report) 

b)  the height, bulk, lot coverage and appearance of any building are 
compatible with adjacent land uses; 

Complies (See Staff Report) 

c) consideration is given to building design and the provision of barriers, 
berms, fences, and/or landscaping as part of the residential development 
to minimize effects on adjacent land uses; 

Complies (See site plan) 

d)  the capacities of local schools will not be strained; Complies 

e)  whether the parking area proposed on the site is of sufficient size to 
satisfy the needs of the particular development; is well designed and 
properly related to the building and landscaped areas; 

Complies (See site plan) 

f)  the proposal is consistent with the criteria to amend the Land Use By-law, 
found in Policy I-1.10 

Complies 

Policy L-2.10 It shall be the policy of Council to set out in the LUB requirements 
for landscaping in the Residential Multi-Unit (R-2) Zone where a multiple 
unit residential development abuts a residential, recreational or 
institutional use. 

 
Complies 

Policy I-1.10 In considering amendments to the LUB, in addition to all other 
criteria set out in various policies of this planning strategy, Council shall 
have regard for the following matters: 

a.  The proposal is in conformance with the intents of this Strategy and with 
the requirements of all other Municipal by-laws and regulations; 

 
Yes, complies with the intents 
of the MPS 

b.  The proposal is not premature or inappropriate by reason of: 

i)  the financial capability of the Municipality to absorb any costs 
relating to the development; 

Complies 

ii)  the adequacy of sewer and water services to support the proposed 
development; 

Complies 
 

iii) the adequacy and proximity of school, recreation and other 
community facilities; 

Complies 

iv)  the adequacy of road networks adjacent to, or leading to the 
development; 

Complies 

v)  the potential for the contamination of watercourses or the creation 
of erosion or sedimentation; and 

Will be addressed during 
building permit process. 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 23 of 50



vi)  the potential for damage to or destruction of historical buildings and 
sites. 

 

N.A. 

c.    Whether the proposal conforms to the requirements contained in the Land 
Use By-law relating to the following: 

 

i) the type of use; Complies 

ii) setbacks, height, bulk, and lot coverage of a proposed building or 
expansion to an existing structure; 

Complies 

iii) traffic generation, access to and egress from the site, and parking; Complies 

iv) open storage; N.A. 

v) signs; N.A. 

vi) provisions for buffering, landscaping, screening and access control to 
reduce potential incompatibility with adjacent land uses and traffic; 

Complies 

vii) the location of the development so as not to obstruct any natural 
drainage channels or watercourses; 

Complies 

viii) sufficient building separations to permit access to firefighting 
equipment and to prevent the spread of fire. 

Complies 

d.  Suitability and costs of the proposed development in terms of steepness of 
grades, soil and geological conditions, marshes, swamps or bogs and proximity 
of highway ramps, railway rights-of-way and other nuisance factors. 

Complies 

 

  

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 24 of 50



 

Appendix B: Site Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 25 of 50



Appendix C: Proposed Townhouse Options 

 

 

 

      
Photos courtesy of STRUM Consulting. 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 26 of 50



Amending Page:  
 

The West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law shall be amended as shown on the Rezoning Map 
below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 27 of 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This is to certify that the By-law, of which this is a 
true copy, was passed at a duly called meeting of the 
Council for the Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish on _________________________, 2024. 
Given under the hand of the Chief Administrative 
Officer and under the corporate seal of the said 
Municipality this _____ day of ___________, 2024. 
 
__________________________________________ 
Glenn Horne 
CAO 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 28 of 50



 

To: Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee 

 Antigonish County Council 

From: Planning Staff (EDPC)  

Date: June 3, 2024 

Reference: Application to amend R-2 Townhouse lot requirements in the West River 
Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law.  

AT-RZ2023-007 

 
Staff Recommendation:  
Staff recommend that the Planning Advisory 
Committee forward the following 
recommendations: 

1. That the Municipality amend the lot 
requirements for townhouses in the R-2 
zone. 

2. That Municipal Council give First Reading 
and schedule a Public Hearing.  

Background Information:  
In November 2023, the Eastern District Planning 
Commission received an application from STRUM 
Consultants asking to review the lot requirements for townhouses in the Residential (R-2) zone in 
the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law. 
Analysis: 
The applicant would like to see smaller lot size requirements in the R-2 zone similar to what the 
RN-2 zone has for townhouses in the Town of Antigonish Land Use By-law. Currently, the R-2 zone 
requires 307m² (3,304 ft²) per dwelling unit and 6.1 metres of road frontage per unit, plus 6.1 
metres.  Therefore, a four-unit dwelling requires 30.5 metres of road frontage and 1,228 m² 
(13,218 ft²) of lo the area. 
There is a growing need for more residential units in Antigonish County, with this in mind the 
proposed changes are to decrease the required minimum lot size for townhouse developments.  
This would allow more townhouse developments on a smaller parcel of land.  STRUM Consulting 
have asked that Staff review the Town of Antigonish lot sizes for the Higher Order Residential 
Neighbourhood (RN-2) Zone and make the R-2 Townhouse lot requirements in the WRAH Land 
Use By-law the same. 

Description 

Designation: Residential 

Current Zoning: Multiple Unit 

Residential (R-2)  

Request: Amend Part 14 lot 
requirements for 
Townhouses  

Identification #: All of the R-2 zone 

  

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 29 of 50



Staff have reviewed the illustration sent by STRUM which demonstrates how a minimum lot area 
requirement of 150 m² (1,615 ft²) per dwelling unit combined with a minimum lot frontage of 6 
metres per unit allows each unit of a townhouse to be built on a land area of 332 m² (3573.6 ft²) 
and a four unit building to require 1,228 m² (13, 218 ft²). 

There is still enough amenity (green) space, but it should be noted that the required amenity 
space is quite minimal as it stands in the by-law presently. Therefore, the amenity space 
requirement is not a crucial factor in the proposed amendment to reduce the overall required lot 
sizes for townhouses. 

In addition, the recommendation is to have a maximum hard surface coverage of 50% on the lot.  
With the potentially smaller lots allowed Staff recommend at least 50% of the lot surface be 
capable of retaining rainwater and therefore not considered a hard or impermeable surface, such 
as asphalt or hard packed gravel. Having too much hard surface area can lead to higher 
probability of overwhelming the storm/sewer lines. 

 

Figure 1: Townhouse lot size comparison. 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 30 of 50



The following two tables are a comparison of Townhouse requirements for R-2 zone and RN-2 
zone. 

A. R-2 Zone  

14.1. In any Multiple Unit Residential (R-2) zone, no development permit shall be issued except in 
conformity with the following requirements: 

Standard Multiple Unit (Sewer) Townhouses (Sewer) 

Minimum Lot Area 

929 m² (10,000 ft²) for the first 3 units –  

93 m² (1000 ft²) per additional unit 

307 m² (3,300 ft²)  

per dwelling unit 

Minimum Lot Frontage 30.5 m. (100ft.)  
6.1 m. (20ft.) per unit, plus 
6.1 m. (20ft.) 

Minimum Front Yard 7.6 m. (25ft.)  7.6 m. (25ft.)  

Minimum Side Yard 1.2 m. (4ft.)  1.2 m. (4ft.)  

Minimum Rear Yard 7.6 m. (25ft.)  7.6 m. (25ft.)  

Maximum Height 10.7 m. (35ft.)  10.7 m (35ft.)  

 

B. RN-2 Zone in the Town of Antigonish Land Use By-law 
 

7.5.17    Townhouse Development through Site Plan Approval 
A site plan approval application for the development of townhouses may be considered provided 
the following requirements and all other requirements of this Bylaw are met:  

a) The following requirements are satisfied:  

Table 1 
 Townhouse 

Minimum Lot Area 500 m2 

Minimum Lot Frontage 6 m per unit 

Minimum Lot Area per Dwelling Unit 150 m2 

Minimum Side Yard Detached: 3 m 

Common wall: 0 m 

Minimum Flankage Yard 5 m  

Maximum Number of Dwellings Units in one building 6 
Maximum Hard Surface Coverage on Lot 50% 

Maximum Building Height  11 m 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 31 of 50



Amending Pages 
 

A BY-LAW TO AMEND THE LAND USE BY-LAW 
 FOR THE MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF ANTIGONISH 

The West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law for the Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish is hereby amended as follows:  

1) In Part 14 removing the following text in strikethrough and adding the following text in 
bold:  

14.2. In any Multiple Unit Residential (R-2) zone, no development permit shall be issued except in 
conformity with the following requirements: 

Standard Multiple Unit (Sewer) Townhouses (Sewer) 

Minimum Lot Area 
  

929 m² (10,000 ft²) for the first 3 units –  

93 m² (1000 ft²) per additional unit 

307 m² (3,300 ft²)  

150 m² (1,615 ft²) 

per dwelling unit 

Minimum Lot Frontage 30.5 m. (100ft.)  
6.1 m. (20ft.) per unit, plus 
6.1 m. (20ft.) 

Minimum Front Yard 7.6 m. (25ft.)  7.6 m. (25ft.)  

Minimum Side Yard 1.2 m. (4ft.)  

1.2 m. (4ft.)  

3 m (10 ft.) 

Minimum Flankage Yard 5 m (16.4 ft.) 5 m (16.4 ft.) 

Minimum Rear Yard 7.6 m. (25ft.)  7.6 m. (25ft.)  

Maximum Hard Surface  
Coverage on Lot 

50% 50% 

Maximum Height 10.7 m (35 ft.) 10.7 m (35 ft.) 

 

 

2) In Part 25 adding the following text in bold: 
Hard surface: means any surface on a lot that is impervious to water and shall include 
buildings, asphalt, monolithic concrete surfaces, and parking areas. 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 32 of 50



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This is to certify that the By-law, of which this is a 
true copy, was passed at a duly called meeting of the 
Council for the Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish on _________________________, 2024. 
Given under the hand of the Chief Administrative 
Officer and under the corporate seal of the said 
Municipality this _____ day of ___________, 2024. 
 
__________________________________________ 
Glenn Horne 
CAO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 33 of 50



Staff Report 

 

Page 1 of 6 

To:    Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee 

  Antigonish County Council 

From:  Planning Staff (EDPC)  

Date:  June 03, 2024 

Reference: Amendments to the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law permitting 

the conversion of existing non-residential building to entirely residential 

buildings in the General Commercial (C-2) Zone subject to special requirements. 

 
Recommendation: 

That Antigonish County Council approve the proposed amendments to the West River Antigonish 

Harbour Land Use By-law to allow the conversion of existing non-residential building to entirely 

residential buildings General Commercial (C-2) Zone subject to special requirements. 

Background Information:  

The Eastern District Planning Commission received an application from Stewart Hargreaves, Vice 

President of S. F. Smith Retirement Living Inc. seeking a text amendment to the West River 

Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to permit the conversion of existing non-residential building 

to entirely residential buildings General Commercial (C-2) Zone. This would allow S. F. Smith 

Retirement Living Inc. to convert a vacant office building located at 31 Central Avenue (PID 

01248301), Lower South River, Antigonish County, into a 16-unit apartment building. 

On May 16, 2024, an e-transfer for the advertising deposit was received by Staff.  

Currently 31 Central Avenue (PID 01248301), Lower South River is zoned as General Commercial 

(C-2) under the West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area in the Municipality of Antigonish County. 

Under this zoning, the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law does not permit entirely 

residential buildings in the zone. In accordance with Section 16.12 of the West River Antigonish 

Harbour Land Use By-law, residential units are only permitted in commercial buildings, but 

residential uses are not permitted on the ground level at the front of said building.  

Analysis: 

The West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning Strategy notes that there are several 

commercial developments and clusters of commercial development found throughout the plan 

area, including commercial developments located within residential nodes. For example, 31 

Central Avenue (PID 01248301), Lower South River is adjacent to other properties/businesses 

zoned as General Commercial (C-2) such as the Oasis Motel and Leaves & Limbs Sports store but 

is also near two different mobile home parks and a large pocket of Residential (R-1) zoned 

properties located between Highway 4 and along South River Road. Furthermore, the West River 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 34 of 50



Staff Report 

 

Page 2 of 6 

Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law already permits dwelling units with no limit in commercial 

buildings.  

Staff believe permitting the conversion of existing non-residential buildings to entirely residential 

buildings will not cause conflicts in land use since the West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal 

Planning Strategy acknowledges that the location of some General Commercial (C-2) zoned 

properties are sited within residential areas and that the General Commercial (C-2) Zone permits 

high densities of dwelling units at present though they must be within a commercial building.  

From a best practice planning perspective, a mix of commercial and residential promotes robust 

communities and nodes where individual can live near their workplace. There is also a substantial 

need for housing throughout the Province and the proposed policy amendment may assist with 

the issue by incentivizing the development of more housing.  

In addition to the text amendment that would permit the conversion of existing non-residential 

building to entirely residential buildings, Staff would like to include special requirements for such 

conversions. The proposed special requirements will ensure that the converted building will meet 

the intent of the West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-

law. Part of the preamble for Section 3.3.2 of West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning 

Strategy states: 

“Council would like new developments to reflect the character and architectural styles of the 

Antigonish area. More attractive and higher quality developments are desirable, and all 

buildings should be designed to an architectural style that is compatible with the forms found 

in Antigonish. New commercial developments will be strongly encouraged to follow the 

architectural design guidelines found in the Land Use By-law. Better quality signage and lighting 

is also encouraged for new developments in the Plan area. New development will be required to 

adhere to the architectural design guidelines found in the Land Use By-law wherever possible. 

These guidelines are meant to ensure that new commercial developments have a distinctive and 

recognizable architectural style that is based on a style found in the Antigonish area. 

Council would also like to see better site design that includes safer access to sites and 

commercial buildings for pedestrians, cyclists and motorists.” 

The intent of the Municipal Planning Strategy is that the Municipality is seeking more thoughtfully 

designed developments that include safer sites for pedestrians, cyclists and motorists. To further 

this goal, Staff are proposing implementing special requirements for existing non-residential 

building that shall be converted into entirely residential buildings. Requirements for off street 

parking and amenity space ensure thoughtful consideration of site design for residents. A parking 

plan showing clearly delineated parking spaces and makings will help make the development 

safer for cyclists, pedestrians and motorists.  

Staff believe there is no reason to amend the West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning 

Strategy because the proposed amendments are in keeping with the intent and spirit of the 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 35 of 50



Staff Report 

 

Page 3 of 6 

document. 

Conclusion: 

Staff believe the proposed amendments will assist with the housing shortage by allowing old 

commercial building to be repurposed and reused as they are converted into much needed 

residential units throughout the County. Special requirements will help ensure that buildings 

converted entirely residential are more thoughtfully designed and contribute to the community 

in line with the intention of the West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning Strategy. 

Staff recommend that Antigonish County Council approve the proposed amendments to the West 

River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to allow the conversion of existing non-residential 

building to entirely residential buildings General Commercial (C-2) Zone subject to special 

requirements.   

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 36 of 50



Staff Report 

 

Page 4 of 6 

Proposed Motions for the Planning Advisory Committee:  

Based upon the staff recommendation, the proposed motions for PAC are: 

1. That the Planning Advisory Committee recommend that Municipal Council approve the 

proposed amendments to the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to allow the 

conversion of existing non-residential building to entirely residential buildings General 

Commercial (C-2) Zone subject to special requirements. 

 

Proposed Motions for Council:  

Based upon a positive recommendation from the PAC, the proposed motions for Council are: 

FIRST READING AND SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING DATE: 

LAND USE BY-LAW TEXT AMENDMENTS: 

1. That Municipal Council give First Reading and schedule a Public Hearing regarding 

approving the proposed amendments to the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-

law to allow the conversion of existing non-residential building to entirely residential 

buildings General Commercial (C-2) Zone subject to special requirements. 

 

SECOND READING AND APPROVAL:  

1. That Municipal Council give Second Reading and approve the proposed amendments to the 

West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law to allow the conversion of existing non-

residential building to entirely residential buildings General Commercial (C-2) Zone subject to 

special requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix A: Amending Pages 
  

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 37 of 50



Staff Report 

 

Page 5 of 6 

Appendix A: Amending Pages 
 

A BY-LAW TO AMEND THE WEST RIVER ANTIGONISH HARBOUR PLAN AREA 

LAND USE BY-LAW 

1. Part 16: “General Commercial (C-2) Zone” is hereby amended by adding the following Section after 

Section 16.12 titled “Residential Uses in a Commercial Building”: 

 

Converted Dwellings 

16.13 Non residential buildings may be converted to an entirely residential building in the 

General Commercial (C-2) Zone provided that: 

 

a. All garbage and recycling bins are handled in accordance to Section 19.9 regardless of 

association with a residential use.  

 

b. Off-street parking is provided in conformity with the parking requirement schedule 

found in Section 6.A.23; 

 

c. Parking spaces, walkways pathway are clearly delineated and marked as shown in 

plan submitted to the Development Officer prior to approval of the Development 

Permit; 

 

d. Amenity space of no less than 7.4 m² (80 ft²) per unit must be provided for a multiple 

unit residential building; and 

 

e. If applicable, the type and location of outdoor lighting is designed as full cut-off in 

order to provide light for the structure, driveways and any pedestrian access required 

to maintain safe access, with no light directed at or spilled onto neighbouring 

properties or into the night sky; and 

 

2. Part 25: “Definitions” is hereby amended by adding the following Section after the Definition of 

“Alter” and before the Definition of “Autobody Shop”: 

… 

ALTER means to change a structural component of a building, or to increase or decrease the  

volume of a building or structure. 

 

AMENITY SPACE means an area capable of being used for active or passive recreation and enjoyment 

of the occupants of a residential development. An amenity area may include landscaped areas, patios, 

verandahs, balconies, communal lounges, swimming pools, sport courts, play areas, and other similar 

features, and does not include the building’s service areas, parking lots, aisles, or access driveways. 

 

AUTOBODY SHOP means a building or structure used for the painting or repairing of the exterior  

and/or undercarriage of motor vehicle bodies and which may include towing service and motor  

vehicle rentals for customers while the motor vehicle is under repair. 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 38 of 50



Staff Report 

 

Page 6 of 6 

… 
This is to certify that the By-law, of which this is a 
true copy, was passed at a duly called meeting of the 
Council for the Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish on _________________________, 2024.  
 
Given under the hand of the Chief Administrative 
Officer and under the corporate seal of the said 
Municipality this _____ day of ___________, 2024. 
 
__________________________________________ 
Glenn Horne 
CAO 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 39 of 50



  Staff Memo 
 

Page 1  

 

To: Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee 

 Antigonish County Council  

From: Planning Staff (EDPC) 

Date: June 3, 2024 

Reference: Proposed Amendment to the Eastern Antigonish Land Use By-law Rural (R-1) Zone 

to allow “Brewpubs, taproom breweries and micro-distilleries” and “licensed 

establishments” to Restaurants as permitted uses within the zone. 

 

Recommendation:  
That the Municipality of Antigonish County Council approve the proposed amendments to the 

Eastern Antigonish Land Use By-law to allow “Brewpubs, taproom breweries and micro-distilleries” 

and “licensed establishments” to restaurants as permitted uses within the Rural (R-1) Zone.  

Background  
Staff received an application from Mr. Gregg Colp owner of “Below the Salt Distillery” 13605 Highway 4 

in Aulds Cove on May 16, 2024, to amend the zoning by-law to allow them to receive a special occasion 

permit from the provincial liquor licensing authority. Specifically, they would like to sell local beers and 

wines as alternatives to their spirits distilled in Waverley. They are also proposing to operate a micro-

distillery from the site. Presently the existing use is permitted under the Rural (R-1) Zone as a retail use 

only. The zone permits retail stores which are defined as: “…a building or part thereof in which goods, 

wares, merchandise, or products are sold to the general public for monetary gain.” The expansion, 

however, to sell other products and to distill on site required a revised license from the province and 

therefore a change in the zoning. Originally this was not a concern to the owner since the new zoning by-

law would eventually address this proposed use. Recently, however, the applicant has had to move from 

his Waverly site and would like to re-establish the micro-distillery in Aulds Cove which has meant that he 

requires a zone amendment sooner than when the new document will be approved. 

Under the revised zoning bylaw this property will be zoned with the new Rural General (RG-1) Zone which 

is proposed to allow “Brewpubs, taproom breweries and micro-distilleries” as well as “Restaurants and 

licensed establishments”. This proposed list of permitted uses in the new Rural General (RG-1) zone has 

been reviewed at length by the Area Advisory Committee and presented at a number of Open Houses 

held as part of the larger plan review process. 

Conclusion 
Staff are therefore recommending that “Brewpubs, taproom breweries and micro-distilleries” as well as 

“licensed establishments” to Restaurants, be added as permitted uses within the existing Rural (R-1) Zone 

to reflect what is proposed in the new Rural General (RG-1) Zone, as per the amending pages attached to 

this report. 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 40 of 50



  Staff Memo 
 

Page 2  

Appendix A: Amending Pages  

A BY-LAW TO AMEND THE EASTERN ANTIGONISH PLAN AREA  
LAND USE BY-LAW  

 
1. Part 8: “Rural (R-1) Zone” is hereby amended by adding in Section 1 “Commercial Uses” immediately 

following “Bed and Breakfast Establishments” the following text:  

 

Brewpubs, taproom breweries and micro-distilleries 

 

2. Part 8: “Rural (R-1) Zone” is hereby amended by adding in Section 1 “Commercial Uses” immediately 

following “Restaurants” the following text: 

 

and licensed establishments 

 

 

 
 
 
This is to certify that the By-law, of which this is a true 
copy, was passed at a duly called meeting of the 
Council for the Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish on _________________________, 2024. 
 
Given under the hand of the Chief Administrative 
Officer and under the corporate seal of the said 
Municipality this _____ day of ___________, 2024. 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Glenn Horne 
CAO 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 41 of 50



 
 
April 22, 2024 
 
 
 
 
Your Worship Carolyn Bolivar-Getson 
President, Nova Scotia Federation of Municipalities  
Suite 1106, 1809 Barrington Street   
Halifax, NS  B3J 2K8 
Via email:  president@nsfm.ca  
 
Dear President Bolivar-Getson: 

Under the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, the Minister of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing must provide to the Nova Scotia Federation of Municipalities (NSFM) 12-months’ notice 
of any provincial legislation, regulation, or administrative actions that could have the effect of 
decreasing revenues or increasing the required expenditures of municipalities. This letter is 
intended to provide notice of such changes for fiscal year 2025-2026 and beyond.  
 
The Department of Municipal Affairs and Housing (DMAH) canvassed all other provincial 
departments to seek information on plans for legislative, regulatory, and policy changes in the 
coming fiscal year. Below you will find a summary of the results of that process. 
 
Communities, Culture, Tourism and Heritage* 
 
Review of the Libraries Act Funding Regulations 
Public regional libraries receive annual operating funding from the Province, municipalities, and 
their regional library boards. The Libraries Act Funding Regulations stipulate a sharing ratio that 
requires a contribution from municipalities. Currently, for libraries outside Halifax Regional 
Municipality (HRM), the Province contributes 71%, municipalities contribute 26%, and library 
and boards contribute 3%, while within HRM, the Province contributes 26%, the municipality 
contributes 71%, and the board contributes 3%. 
 
The department is currently conducting a funding review that may have an impact on the 
municipalities on April 1, 2025. However, at this time, the impact on the municipalities is not 
known, as this work is underway and will require Executive Council approval. 
 
We will provide further updates on any potential impacts as we get closer to a decision on this 
initiative. 
 
 

. . . 2 
 

 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 42 of 50

mailto:president@nsfm.ca


Carolyn Bolivar-Getson 
Page 2 
 
 
 
Department of Intergovernmental Affairs 
 
Procurement Thresholds and Free Trade Agreements 
Intergovernmental Affairs would like to advise that there are procurement thresholds under 
several free trade agreements that could impact municipalities.  
 
Every two years, Global Affairs Canada updates its thresholds for covered procurements under 
the Canada-Europe Trade Agreement (CETA), the Canada-UK Trade Continuity Agreement 
(TCA) and the Canada Free Trade Agreement (CFTA). Municipal procurements are covered 
under these obligations. All procurements above the thresholds must be publicly tendered 
unless subject to an exemption. 
  
The threshold values in Canadian dollars for the period of January 1, 2024, to December 31, 
2025, are as follows: 
 

FTA Goods Services Construction 

CFTA 

Province 
$33,400 $133,800 $133,800 

Municipalities and MASH 
$133,800 $133,800 $334,400 

Crowns, Utilities, etc. 
$353,300 $668,800 $6,685,000 

CETA/TCA 

Province, Municipalities and MASH 
$353,300 $353,300 $8,800,000 

Crowns 
$627,200 $627,200 $8,800,000 

Utilities, etc. 
$706,700 $706,700 $8,800,000 

 
Department of Justice 
 
The Department of Justice are aware of the following changes: 
 

1. The current RCMP labour contract for regular members and reservists below the rank of 
inspector expires on March 31, 2023, and new labour negotiations began on April 1, 
2023. The negotiations remain ongoing and are moving to mediation as of January 2024. 
The cost implications cannot be determined at this time. 

 
2. RCMP Multi-Year Financial Plan (MYFP) of Nova Scotia's RCMP "H" Division includes 

RCMP salary increases, fleet requirements, accommodation, and business cases in 
2023-24. The total financial impact for the new Provincial Police Service Agreement to 
Municipalities is $6.231 million. 

 
. . . 3 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 43 of 50



Carolyn Bolivar-Getson 
Page 3 
 
 
 

3. Biological Casework Analysis Agreement provides municipalities with DNA analysis 
arising from criminal investigations. Costs will be determined upon the release of the 
"Total Uniform Assessment" by Municipal Affairs. 
 

4. Work is underway for the development of the accessibility standards and compliance of 
the Act. The cost implications cannot be determined at this time. At a minimum, one-year 
notice will be given to municipalities and villages of any policy and regulation change 
related to obligations under the Accessibility Act and standards that impact revenue or 
expenditures.  

 
5. The Dismantling Racism and Hate Act enables the Minister to require prescribed public 

sector bodies, including municipalities and villages to develop equity and anti-racism 
plans to address systematic hate, inequity, and racism. The provincial government is 
providing municipalities and villages with $1.185 million to support this work. It is 
anticipated that plans will be required by April 1, 2025. 
 

6. The Attorney General and Minister of Justice's Mandate Letter of September 14, 2021, 
directs the Minister to amend the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
to give order-making ability to the Privacy Commissioner. The Department of Justice is 
undertaking a comprehensive review of access and privacy legislation with the goal of 
modernization. To ensure consistency in access and privacy legislation, Part XX of the 
Municipal Government Act is included in this review and will be updated at the same 
time. The Department of Justice is undertaking engagement with municipalities and 
villages as part of the review. 

 
Department of Labour, Skills and Immigration 
 
Firefighters’ Compensation Regulations 
This item is regarding the Firefighters’ Compensation Regulations under the Workers' 
Compensation Act, and the expanded cancers included in the presumption in Nova Scotia. The 
estimated financial cost of this amendment was determined via an actuarial assessment. The 
Workers’ Compensation Board of Nova Scotia (WCB) will need to determine if the impact of 
cancer claims on the liability requires a rate increase for municipalities, as they are considered 
employers for volunteer firefighters in the Workers' Compensation Act. The WCB will 
communicate the 2025 rates to employers by September 2024. 
 
Department of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
 
Statement of Provincial Interest 
The Department of Municipal Affairs and Housing (DMAH) has initiated a review of the 
Statement of Provincial Interest (SPI) Regarding Housing and the Statement of Provincial 
Interest (SPI) Regarding Infrastructure. The current SPIs have not been amended since their 
inception in 1999. Municipalities are required to have a comprehensive land use plan for the 
entire extent of their municipality and new municipal planning documents, as well as  
 

. . . 4 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 44 of 50



Carolyn Bolivar-Getson 
Page 4 
 
 
 
amendments made after these statements come into effect, must be reasonably consistent with  
them. Municipalities are also required to review their planning documents every 10 years, at a 
minimum. It is difficult at this time to determine if there will be a potential financial impact on 
municipalities, in the form of additional studies to support their planning work, as this will be 
dependent on the results of the review.  
 
Department of Emergency Management  
  
Regulations to support the new Act to Establish a Department of Emergency Management and 
Authorize the Establishment of a Nova Scotia Guard will be developed in the coming year which 
may have a financial impact on municipalities.  This includes regulations respecting regional 
emergency management offices; the relationship between municipalities and regional 
emergency management offices; the provision of fire dispatch services through regional 
emergency management offices; vulnerable persons registries and their implementation; and a 
regional emergency alert system and the participation of municipalities in the system.   
 
Department of Economic Development 
The Department of Economic Development has two initiatives underway that could potentially 
have financial impacts on municipalities: 
 
Review of the Peggy’s Cove Commission Act 
This review is seeking to modernize the role and administration of the Peggy’s Cove 
Commission. Given the location of Peggy’s Cove within the boundaries of HRM, any proposed 
changes to the Act or its administration could have an impact on the municipality, for example 
shifting responsibility for planning approvals. 
 
Regional Enterprise Networks (RENs) 
In 2023 the department engaged in a series of interviews, interactive sessions, and discussions 
around our vision for economic growth, the existing tools and partnerships that support this 
shared work, and opportunities to support continued economic growth in Nova Scotia. This, in 
part, involved municipalities and the Regional Enterprise Networks (RENs). There were common 
themes that emerged from the sessions, most notably the need for consistent service delivery 
across the province, complete geographical coverage, and improved navigation of existing 
programs and services for businesses. The outcome of addressing these challenges has the 
potential to impact the existing REN model, and therefore our municipal partners. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Honourable John A. Lohr 
Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 45 of 50



 
 

ASSET MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE E-POLL REPORT  
JUNE 12, 2024   PAGE 1 
  

 

TO:  MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 

FROM: Deputy Warden Bill MacFarlane 

SUBJECT: June 12, 2024 Asset Management Committee E-poll Report 

DATE: July 2, 2024 

 
The Asset Management Committee was queried by e-poll on June 12, 2024. The 
following Councillors participated: 
 

Warden McCarron 
Deputy Warden MacFarlane 
Councillor MacLellan 
Councillor MacDonald 
Councillor Stewart 
Councillor Brophy 
Councillor Deveau 
Councillor Dunbar 
Councillor Mattie 
Councillor McNamara 

The following recommendation was made: 

The Asset Management Committee recommends to Municipal Council that an application 
be made to the Provincial Capital Assistance Program to support the Antigonish AT 
Corridor - Church Street Sewer Service Upgrades project. 
 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 46 of 50



 
 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT  
JUNE 12, 2024  PAGE 1 
  

 

TO:  MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 

FROM: Glenn Horne, CAO 

SUBJECT: June 12, 2024 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE E-POLL REPORT 

DATE: July 2, 2024   

 
The Committee of the Whole was was queried by e-poll on June 12, 2024. The following 
Councillors participated: 

 
Warden McCarron 
Deputy Warden MacFarlane 
Councillor MacLellan 
Councillor MacDonald 
Councillor Stewart    
Councillor Brophy 

   Councillor Deveau 
Councillor Dunbar 
Councillor Mattie 
Councillor McNamara  

 

The following recommendation was made: 

The Committee of the Whole recommends to Municipal Council that an application be 
made to the Municipal Innovation Program to support the Antigonish – Paqtnkek 
Partnership project.   
 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 47 of 50



 
 

ASSET MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT  
JUNE 25, 2024   PAGE 1 
  

 

TO:  MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 

FROM: Deputy Warden Bill MacFarlane 

SUBJECT: June 25, 2024 Asset Management Committee Report 

DATE: July 2, 2024 

 
The Asset Management Committee was convened on Tuesday, June 25, 2023. The 
following Councillors were present: 

Deputy Warden MacFarlane, Chair    
Warden McCarron 

   Councillor Brophy 
   Councillor Deveau 

Councillor Dunbar 
Councillor MacDonald 
Councillor MacLellan 
Councillor Mattie  
Councillor McNamara 

    
  

No recommendations were made. 
 
 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 48 of 50



 
 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT  
JUNE 25, 2024  PAGE 1 
  

 

TO:  MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 

FROM: Glenn Horne, CAO 

SUBJECT: June 25, 2024 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT 

DATE: July 2, 2024   

 
The Committee of the Whole was convened on Tuesday, June 25, 2024.  The following 
Councillors were present: 

   Warden McCarron 
   Deputy Warden MacFarlane 
   Councillor MacLellan 
   Councillor MacDonald 

Councillor Brophy 
   Councillor Deveau  

Councillor Dunbar 
Councillor Mattie 
Councillor McNamara 

    
The following recommendations were made: 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approves the release of funding 
received under the HAF as follows:  

• Antigonish Community Transit Service (ACTS) – Service Review in the 
contribution amount of $26,034 including HST. The ACTS Service Review is cost 
shared with the Town of Antigonish as per the Inter-Municipal Agreement for the 
Housing Accelerator Fund.  

• Antigonish Affordable Housing Society – Appleseed Phase II in the contribution 
amount of $30,000.  

• St. Martha’s Connector Path in the contribution amount of $178,112 inclusive of 
HST. The St. Martha’s Connector Path is a component of the Community Active 
Transportation Network Project.  

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council supports the request made by 
Antigonish Affordable Housing for $150,000 over five (5) years, with the year one 
contribution of $30,000 covered by the Housing Accelerator Fund. 

That the Committee recommends that Municipal Council provides a letter of support to 
RES Wind Farm. 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council appoint Shirlyn Donovan as the 
Interim CAO effective July 13, 2024 until the permanent CAO is appointed, and that 
Municipal Council appoint Ms. Donovan as a signing authority for the Municipality 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 49 of 50



 
 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT 
JUNE 25, 2024    PAGE 2 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council select Facet for the CAO 
appointment process for the bid price of the estimated cost of $30,000 + HST. 

 
July 2, 2024 Municipal Council Agenda 

Page 50 of 50


	MC240702 Agenda-1.pdf
	MC240611 Minutes.pdf
	2 Harbour Lane Demoliton Recommendation Letter June 2024.pdf
	Pages from MC240611 Agenda Package.pdf
	12 Months Notice Letter to NSFM.pdf
	2024 - June 12 - AMC E-poll Report.pdf
	2024 - June 12 - Committee E-Poll Report-1.pdf
	2024 - June 25 - AMC Report.pdf
	2024 - June 25 - Committee Report.pdf



